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Tuesday, November 8, 2011

--- On commencing at 11:09 a.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.

Good morning.  The Board is sitting today to hear the argument in-chief of Hydro Ottawa for an order or orders approving rates for distribution of electricity, to be effective January 1, 2012.

Before we hear from Mr. Cass, are there any preliminary matters?
Preliminary Matters


MR. CASS:  I have three preliminary matters to address, if I may, Madam Chair.

First of all, I wanted to update the Board on the status of undertaking responses.  If my notes are correct, the undertakings that have already been answered are L1.1, 1.6 and 1.7.  This morning, Hydro Ottawa has brought responses to all the other undertakings from the hearing, with one exception, and that exception being L2.6.  So if the responses have not been passed up to the Board, those are available here this morning.

MS. HELT:  I believe they have been provided to you on the dais.

MS. HARE:  Oh, yes, I see.

MR. CASS:  So there is just one outstanding undertaking response.  In my own defence, given that I said on Tuesday morning that they might all be answered by today, I didn't actually know at the time I said that how many more there were going to be during the rest of the day on Tuesday.

MS. HARE:  Right.

MR. CASS:  However, Hydro Ottawa has come very close; there's just one that's outstanding.

MS. HARE:  And do you think that will be answered tomorrow?

MR. CASS:  I think so, yes.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Very good.  Mr. Rubenstein is the only intervenor here.  Do you have any questions on any of these responses?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I haven't really had a chance to look through them.

MS. HARE:  All right.  And I suppose that's the same, Ms. Helt?

MS. HELT:  That's correct.  We haven't had an opportunity to review.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. CASS:  The second preliminary matter, Madam Chair, is also available this morning is the supplementary settlement proposal with the evidentiary references added to it.  That also has been brought to the hearing room this morning.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. CASS:  Finally, Madam Chair, I wanted to raise one transcript correction, because it is a numerical correction; it's more than just a simple typo.

It's in relation to the transcript of Volume 2, that being from Tuesday, November the 8th, at page 155, line 13, there was an answer given with respect to useful lives.

MS. HARE:  Could I just ask you for a minute to get this?  Page 155?

MR. CASS:  Volume 2, page 155.

MS. HARE:  Mm-hmm.

MR. CASS:  Line 13.

MS. HARE:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  The answer was:

"The list is min 30, typical 30, max 40."

The "typical" number should have been 40.  So it should have read min 30, typical 40, max 40.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. CASS:  And with that, Madam Chair, unless there are any other preliminary matters, I am ready to launch into argument-in-chief.

MS. HARE:  Please proceed.
Final Argument by Mr. Cass


MR. CASS:  I propose, Madam Chair, to simply go through the outstanding issues as understood by Hydro Ottawa one at a time.  I don't know that there's really any other way to do it.

As a result, in my argument-in-chief I will be addressing OM&A, the cost of long-term debt, modified IFRS, the working capital allowance -- I've got many more pages here than I realized -- the LRAM, the load forecast, and finally the smart meter disposition rider.

As the Board is aware, OM&A is an unsettled issue that appears under Issue 4.1 of the main settlement proposal.

Hydro Ottawa's forecast of its 2012 OM&A expenses, excluding property taxes, is $63.9 million.  This represents a 4.2 percent increase from 2001 OM&A, which is   $61.3 million.

The evidence in some detail explains the reasons for the 4.2 percent increase from 2011 to 2012.  Mr. Simpson actually summarized some of these in his oral evidence at the hearing.  Without going into all of the reasons, the 4.2 percent increase from 2011 to 2012 reflects things such as a 3 percent increase that becomes effective in March 2012, under the union collective agreement, a 1 percent^ total compensation envelope increase for benefits.  That includes OMERS, pension increases, it includes the full-year effect of 2011 hiring, it includes a general inflationary increase, and it includes additional spending associated with important initiatives like the customer service strategy. 

The customer service strategy was discussed, as the Board will recall, to some extent in the oral evidence.  The other initiatives are canvassed thoroughly in the written evidence, and I won't go through the details of that here.

In effect, the 2012 budget represents a continuation of ongoing business from 2011, with the effect of some necessary cost increases.

The Board will also remember clearly, because this was discussed at a number of points during the hearing, that the OM&A expenses in 2011 are indeed tracking very closely to the 2011 budget.  This was the case at the time of filing of written evidence, and it continued to be the case right up to the oral testimony earlier this week.

In other words, my submission to you is that Hydro Ottawa's 2011 budget is proving to be a very real indication of the OM&A costs required to operate the utility in the current environment.  It's my submission that, with an appropriate increment, the 2011 budget is a very real and solid basis for establishing 2012 OM&A costs.

Now, during the course of cross-examination, intervenors looked back to OM&A costs in earlier years -- by that, I mean years earlier than 2011 -- in an effort to support their position that these earlier years of OM&A costs should be used as a basis for forecasting 2012 OM&A.

The evidence explains in some detail a variety of reasons why the costs in these years referred to by intervenors are not indicative and should not be used as a building block to develop a 2012 forecast.  This was set out in considerable detail in the original evidence at D2, tab 1, schedule 1, through to D2, tab 1, schedule 3.  I won't go through that in detail here.

Mr. Simpson did summarize some of those reasons in his oral testimony.  In effect, he emphasized some of the nonrecurring items in those particular years that caused them not to be a good representation or building block to try to assess OM&A in 2011 and 2012.

Now, as I say this, it certainly is in my mind that the Panel Members may well be thinking:  We've heard this before.  We've heard this about non-recurring costs.

My intent, then, is to try to hit this head-on, so to speak, and address the particular reasons why I think in this case the Board should not consider these earlier years as an appropriate basis to build on, but should, as I have said, take the 2011 year as a solid and real basis for forecast of what can be expected in 2012.

There are a number of reasons, but there are three reasons that I would primarily like to emphasize to the Board.  Obviously, 2011 is the most recent year in which Hydro Ottawa is experiencing real results, and for that reason alone it's the most current information to assess -- or to form a basis for assessing OM&A costs that are appropriate for 2012.

2011 does not suffer from the skewing caused by non-recurring effects that, again, are discussed in some detail in the evidence and were summarized by Mr. Simpson.

Now, there was some suggestion during cross-examination that the 2011 OM&A expenses somehow lacked credibility as a real basis for looking ahead to 2012, because at one point, as the Board is aware, Hydro Ottawa did come forward as if 2011 would be a rebasing year.

The evidence is clear, though, that the 2011 budget as it is now was finalized and approved after it had become clear that 2011 was not going to be a rebasing year, that the Board had rejected that proposition.

The evidence indicates that that approval occurred in February of 2011, after it was well-known that 2011 was off the table, so to speak, as a rebasing year.

In my submission, for these years 2011 is very much a solid building block to use in order to look forward to 2012.  That's proposition number 1.

The second point that I want to stress to the Board in relation to the propositions I'm putting forward is that there has really been no serious effort by any intervenor to show areas in the 2011 OM&A budget where spending is too high or where spending is imprudent.  It just has not happened.

Given that Hydro Ottawa is currently spending at the level of its 2011 budget, it follows that an OM&A allowance for 2012 that does not reflect that 2011 spending plus some sort of reasonable increment, whatever the Board might consider that to be, would effectively mean that for 2012 Hydro Ottawa would somewhere have to cut back from what it's currently doing in this year.

I think it's obvious that that follows, that Hydro Ottawa is spending at this level.  In order to continue its current level of operations into 2012, it needs -- it would need to continue that level plus whatever the reasonable increment is going into 2012.  Otherwise, Hydro Ottawa would have to cut something from what it's doing right now.

So my second point to the Board is, intervenors have not really made any serious attempt to bring out these areas, or any areas, I should say, where Hydro Ottawa is doing things in 2011 that could be effectively cut back to reduce what Hydro Ottawa says is a reasonable budget for 2012.  That's proposition number 2.

The third proposition I want to put out to the Board to think about in relation, again, to these OM&A costs and what's an appropriate building block is to take the Board back to the last Board-approved number.  I think by looking at a Board-approved number one can remove what I've called the "skewing" related to non-recurring items, and one can then work from a number that, because it was Board-approved, should be accepted by everyone as a reasonable number.

Well, the last Board-approved OM&A for Hydro Ottawa was for 2008, and if my notes are correct that was $55.329 million, approximately, for 2008.

Now, the question is what sort of increments would be reasonable to carry that forward right to 2012.  That, of course, is something that the Board itself will want to consider.

In relation to the evidence that the Board has heard just in respect of 2011 to 2012, again, there's been the evidence about 3 percent increase for unionized staff, 1  percent across the board compensation increase for benefits, and so on, which Hydro Ottawa has concluded means that a 4.2 percent increase from 2011 to 2012 is appropriate.

If one were to be conservative and perhaps take that at 3.5 percent -- and I just did this as an arithmetic demonstration.  I did this myself.  I hope my arithmetic works.  Mr. Hoey tells me it did, the number came out right -- I took the 2008 Board-approved OM&A of $55.329 million, and I simply, on a compounding basis, increased it by 3.5 percent for each year from 2008 to 2012.

If my arithmetic is correct, the result is approximately $63.5 million, which is very much in line with Hydro Ottawa's OM&A forecast for 2012.

In short, working from the last OM&A number approved by the Board, and therefore one that can be taken as reasonable, and using a 3.5 percent annual increment to 2012, one ends up with a number that is very close to Hydro Ottawa's forecast for 2012.

That's my third proposition to the Board in support of my overall argument that 2011, moving forward to 2012, as Hydro Ottawa has done, is a very reasonable and reliable building block to come out with an appropriate number for 2012 OM&A.

Now, in the submissions I've just made on this point, I did comment that, at least in my perception, in my submission, there really has not been a serious effort by intervenors to show areas where 2011 spending can or should be cut back to then flow through to a lower OM&A budget for 2012.

I did want to make some observations about a couple of areas of spending that actually were addressed at the hearing.  These examples both come from CCC's cross-examination, more by coincidence than anything.

In relation to OM&A spending, CCC cross-examined about two specific areas of spending:  vegetation management and regulatory costs.  What came out of this cross-examination in both of these areas, actually, is really confirmation of the cost pressures that Hydro Ottawa is forced to contend with.

On the vegetation management issue, the evidence is that Hydro Ottawa did indeed enter into six-year contracts, two of them, in an effort to lock down vegetation management costs, but in fact, one of the contractors -- and I'm quoting from the transcript here.  I'll give you the reference -- ended up losing money on the deal and could not carry on with the work.  That's at transcript Volume 1, pages 132 to -3.

As a result of that, of the contractor being at a price that it could not succeed in carrying on with the work, Hydro Ottawa had to make new arrangements, and vegetation management costs actually had gone up, despite these efforts to lock in good prices for six-year contracts.

So the reference to the costs going up is at Volume 1 of the transcript, page 133.

The other specific area that was touched on was regulatory costs.  And for this purpose, the exhibit that was brought out during cross-examination was Exhibit K4, Issue 4.1, Interrogatory No. 4.  It's apparent from this exhibit -- I don't think that anyone needs to turn it up.  This is on the subject of regulatory costs -- that actually the largest element of the costs by far is the Board's cost assessment.

As emerged from the evidence, although Hydro Ottawa's estimate of the Board's costs assessment for 2012 is approximately $775,000, Hydro Ottawa's already received invoices in excess of $900,000 for 2011.  That's -- the reference for that is Volume 2 of the transcript, page 68.

Again, this is, in my submission, a good indication of the cost pressures that Hydro Ottawa is contending with in formulating a reasonable OM&A forecast for 2012.  The intervenors have not brought out areas where 2011 spending can be cut back, and to the extent that areas have been probed, in my submission, they've really supported the cost challenges faced by Hydro Ottawa.

Those are the submissions I wanted to make on the OM&A point, at least in argument-in-chief.  And for the reasons I've given, Hydro Ottawa submits to the Board that its forecast of 2012 OM&A is indeed a reasonable forecast for the Board to rely on.

That brings me next to the issue of long-term debt.  This issue is addressed under Issue 5.2 in the main settlement proposal.

As the Board has heard from the evidence, Hydro Ottawa's forecast of the average long-term debt rate for the test year is 5.39 percent.  In my submission, this average long-term debt rate, on its own, on its face, is a very reasonable rate, and measuring it against the Board's just and reasonable standard, it is indeed, on its face, a just and reasonable average long-term debt rate for Hydro Ottawa.

Mr. Grue did give some examples of comparators to which this rate might be compared.  I won't go through them.  That's at Volume 1 of the transcript, pages 96 to 97.  I think these comparators just confirm that, on its face, this long-term debt rate is indeed a reasonable one.

Despite that, intervenors have apparently sought to bring forward arguments to suggest that this rate should be even lower.  One point that they have seized on for this purpose relates to a concept that during the hearing was described as certain of Hydro Ottawa's debt being callable.

The promissory notes that were the subject of this issue are in evidence.  And I think to be precise, there are notes that were executed back in 2005 and 2006 that contain pre-payment provisions for Hydro Ottawa.

The intervenors' position, as I understand it, is that these notes, even though they form part of Hydro Ottawa's long-term debt since 2005 and 2006, have not been pre-paid or called, should be considered to have the current deemed long-term debt rate because of the pre-payment provisions.

Mr. Grue did address this when he was cross-examined on the issue.  He explained that although the notes are demand notes from the point of view of the lender, they're demand promissory notes and a lender can demand payment, and they have pre-payment provisions, from the point of view of the borrower, it was never intended that these rights were going to be exercised by the parties to play the interest rate market, so to speak.

That's at Volume 1 of the transcript, page 98.

These rights were included in the notes for structural purposes and flexibility within the organization.

Mr. Grue also explained that there was no intention that the notes be called, so to speak, by Hydro Ottawa, and a document is issued every year expressing this intention that they not be called.  That's at Volume 1 of the transcript, page 100.

The purpose of this document being issued is for audit purposes, confirming that there is not an intention that these notes be called.  The reference for that is Volume 1 of the transcript, page 113.

I submit to the Board if the intervenors' position were taken as a reasonable one -- that is, that because the notes have these pre-payment provisions for Hydro Ottawa, that one should treat them as if the current deemed rate will apply, because Hydro Ottawa theoretically could pre-pay -- the same principle would apply to either side.  They're demand notes from the lender's side.

The follow-through on the intervenors' principle, it would mean that when interest rates are higher than what's in these notes, the lender should exercise its rights to demand payment and therefore be able to achieve a higher interest rate.

This clearly was not the intention on either side, as Mr. Grue said.  It was not the intention that either side play the interest rate market, so to speak.

In effect, if that proposition is correct, the notes become some sort of variable-rate financing, where, when rates are low, the deemed rate comes into play because of the pre-payment provision in favour of Hydro Ottawa; when rates are high, the holding company calls the notes because of its ability to do that under the demand aspect of this debt.

It turns what was never intended to be such a thing into some sort of variable-rate financing.

The other point I want to address on this is Mr. Grue explained in some detail the benefits to Hydro Ottawa of its ability to secure financing of this nature through Hydro Ottawa holdings.  There's a fairly long discussion in the transcript.

If I could do my best to summarize it, his point was that Hydro Ottawa can go to holdings for relatively small tranches of debt, and thereby avoid the higher costs associated with going to the market for relatively small debt issuances.  Some of the discussion of this is at Volume 1 of the transcript, page 115.

As a result, Hydro Ottawa and its ratepayers achieve a benefit through this financing arrangement with the parent company, under which Hydro Ottawa can finance these relatively small issuances of debt at less cost than would be the case in the market.

If one were to think through the proposition of intervenors with respect to pre-payment, I think it becomes clearer -- if I could put it this way, with respect to intervenors -- that they really would like to have their cake and eat it too.

The pre-payment proposition assumes theoretically that because Hydro Ottawa could pre-pay these debts, one should put in the current deemed long-term interest rate, applying to them the current long-term rate.

But in order to have that theoretical proposition that Hydro Ottawa would repay these things, it follows that Hydro Ottawa would also lose the benefit of using this type of financing arrangement with its parent company.

In my submission, it's not fair to have it both ways.  It's not fair that Hydro Ottawa has consistently followed a very methodologically sound procedure to achieve a very reasonable interest rate through this arrangement through its parent company, and then assume, because of a theoretical pre-payment of all of this, that the current long-term interest rate should be read into notes from back in 2005 and 2006 that have a different interest rate.

Another subject that came up during cross-examination with respect to long-term debt rate was issuance costs and administration costs.

Mr. Grue explained that in its approach to these costs, Hydro Ottawa's aim is to emulate the actual cost of a debt issuance into the market.  That's at Volume 1 of the transcript, page 104.

He indicated and the evidence is the deemed rate is a pure interest rate.  It's indicative of what an A-rated utility can achieve in the market for a pure interest rate.  That's Volume 1 of the transcript, page 107.

The issuance fee covers the actual cost of issuing debt, such as lawyers' fees and underwriting fees from investment bankers that actually look after the issuance.  That's at Volume 1 of the transcript, page 117.

The administration fee is different.  It covers ongoing costs incurred on an annual basis, such as the trustee fees for the debt instruments, fees paid to rating agencies, fees paid for subscriptions to the Bloomberg and Consensus services, costs of meetings with rating agencies, investments bankers, and so on.  That's at Volume 1 of the transcript, page 106.

This is a methodology that Hydro Ottawa has consistently followed since 2005.  That's from Volume 1 of the transcript, page 106.

Now, in the cost of capital report -- I don't think you need to turn it up.  I'm just going to read a sentence.  And it's -- this comes from Exhibit M1.4, at page 3.  Among many other things said in the report, the Board said that:
"It is of the view that electricity distribution utilities should be motivated to make rational decisions for commercial 'arm's-length' debt arrangements even with shareholders or affiliates."

In my submission, this is just what Mr. Grue was describing in his evidence.  It's an effort -- his word was "emulate" -- to emulate commercial arm's-length debt arrangements even when the other party is a shareholder or an affiliate.  Just as one example of many times I think that Mr. Grue said this during cross-examination, I have Volume 1 of the transcript, page 113.

It's very brief.  I'll just read what Mr. Grue said:

"As I've stated, we have evolved our process to try to emulate as much as possible what a market-based debt issuance would look like.  We've adopted the Board methodology for the deemed rate calculation, and to that, as I say, over time, we've said the admin fee has always been there, those costs that have always been there.  But in emulating a true market-based debt issuance, the issuance costs should be there as well and will be incurred when we do an actual debt issuance."

In summary, on my submissions with respect to the cost of long-term debt, the Board's report on the cost of capital has encouraged and motivated distribution utilities to make rational decisions as if they were commercial arm's-length debt arrangements, even in the case of shareholders or affiliates.  And Mr. Grue has explained in some detail that that's precisely what Hydro Ottawa has endeavoured to do.

That then brings me to modified IFRS.  As the Board is aware, there are two sub-issues with respect to modified IFRS on the Board's issues list for this proceeding.  Issue 1.1 is whether the revenue requirement is appropriately determined -- has been appropriately determined using modified IFRS.  Issue number 11.2 relates to Hydro Ottawa's proposed new modified IFRS deferral and variance accounts.

Under the first of these two, issue 11.1, the central point of enquiry during cross-examination seemed to be related to the components and the service lives for assets that have been determined for the purposes of calculating depreciation and amortization expenses.  That's the first of the two modified IFRS issues I will address relating to service componentization, if that is a word, and service lives of assets.

Under Issue 11.2, the aspect of this that went to hearing related to Hydro Ottawa's proposal to establish a deferral account to capture future gains and losses on disposals of pooled assets.  That will be the second of the modified IFRS issues that I will address.

On the first issue, with respect to components and service lives, I'll just summarize some of the points from the evidence, and I'll give the Board a transcript reference.

Hydro Ottawa's work on the conversion to IFRS has been a three-year process that started in 2008.  During this process, one of the major areas of change to which Hydro Ottawa devoted a lot of time and effort was the area of property, plant, and equipment.

In 2009, Hydro Ottawa struck a core committee to address the IFRS conversion with representatives from a number of areas of its business, including operations, IT, engineering, finance, regulatory, treasury, and also with representatives from Ernst & Young.

One of the first steps and one of the major areas of work in this process was determining components of fixed assets and useful lives.  A summary of all that can be found at Volume 2 of the transcript, page 72.

After Hydro Ottawa's internal process was well underway, the Kinectrics report came out.  In March of 2010 Hydro Ottawa met with Kinectrics and provided to Kinectrics technical useful lives -- that's technical useful lives -- as well as a rating of various factors that could affect the technical useful lives.  This is at Volume 2 of the transcript, page 73.

Hydro Ottawa had no expectation that its useful lives would entirely match those in the Kinectrics report because, under IFRS, useful lives are determined according to the experience of each entity.  Indeed, if one even thinks about the Kinectrics report, it had input from six utilities.  It could hardly be anybody's expectation that with input from six utilities that report was going to come out and match exactly any one of these six particular utilities.

Hydro Ottawa did compare its components and useful lives to the Kinectrics report and made some minor changes as a result of that comparison.  Any remaining variances from Kinectrics to Hydro Ottawa were determined to be appropriate based on differing conditions and practices.  The reference for that is Volume 2 of the transcript, page 73.

Indeed, the reasons for differences between Hydro Ottawa's useful lives and those of Kinectrics were addressed in some detail at the technical conference in this proceeding.  In particular, from pages 158 to 162 of the transcript of the technical conference for September 26, 2001, there's a lengthy discussion of the reasons for differences.

This discussion at the technical conference included but was not limited to the specific areas that Mr. Bennett addressed when he was here for the hearing in front of the Board.

I don't mean to dwell on this, but I think it is important to the extent that the Board is looking for the explanation of any differences between Kinectrics and Hydro Ottawa to understand that there is considerable detail on this in the technical conference transcript.

So at page 157 of the transcript for September 26th, there is a question asked in this regard by Board Staff.  Mr. Bennett then goes through a series of different components, explaining why Hydro Ottawa ended up where it did in relation to service lives.

At the bottom of page 158, after discussing some other components, he actually addresses the same ones that were talked about here during the hearing, that being overhead transformers and underground transformers.

Over at page 159, he talks about many of the same things that were discussed here today.  He says:

"And Hydro Ottawa has a transformer overhead and underground for 30 years.  So these would be distribution transformers, both overhead and underground.  Ottawa, we identified 30 years as a life.  We don't put units back into service that are over 30 years old, so any unit that came back in, we would retire it.  And our experience is that with salt, winter effects, and plus some questions about what future rules might come about for oil-fired equipment, 30 years was deemed as an appropriate life."

I'm using that as one example from an extensive discussion, because it was in fact one of the same examples that was addressed here.  But this explanation goes on at some length, in a similar level of detail, explaining why Hydro Ottawa's service lives are what they are.

Just for the Board's reference, the other example that was discussed by Mr. Bennett during the hearing was underground civil structures, and much of the same things he said at the hearing can be found at page 161 of the technical conference transcript.

The other thing that has emerged from the evidence is that Ernst & Young have concluded that, based on the procedures Hydro Ottawa performed and the audit evidence, the components and useful lives determined by management are reasonable.  That's from Volume 2 of the transcript, page 79.

Now, for the purposes of my submission on this issue, Madam Chair, I think it is important to go back to what the Kinectrics report was all about.  And in order to do that, one can look to the Board's covering letter that accompanied the Kinectrics report.  I don't know that the Board needs to turn it up, but the covering letter was found in a compendium marked as Exhibit M2.1, at page 11.

I just want to read from the first page of the Board's letter of July 8th, 2010, because what is set out here in the Board's letter is a very important part of my submissions on the components and useful-lives aspect of the modified IFRS issue.

The Board said that:

"Effective on transition to IFRS, the Board will no longer prescribe service lives for property, plant, and equipment recorded in the accounts of the distributors.  So as not to depend on a rate ruling from the regulator to define the service life (rate rulings have no status under IFRS standards as currently written) distributors are to have identified service lives that meet the International Accounting Standards Board requirements."

That, in my submission, makes very clear that service lives are not a function of a rate ruling, unlike the previous practice, where there were prescribed service lives from the Board.

Now, this same letter goes on to refer specifically to the International Accounting Standard 16.  That letter says:

"These requirements are stated in International Accounting Standard 16."

Well, that Standard 16 is two pages later in the same Exhibit M2.1.  The last paragraph –- sorry, the last sentence of paragraph 57 of Standard 16 is, and I quote:

"The estimation of the useful life of the asset is a matter of judgment based on the experience of the entity with similar assets."

In my submission, it could not be more clear that the process that is to be followed under IFRS is that the entity is to apply its own experience with similar assets to form a judgment regarding useful lives, components and useful lives.

This is precisely what Hydro Ottawa did, as the Board would have heard in the evidence.  Hydro Ottawa applied its experience with its assets in the circumstances in which Hydro Ottawa operates, to complete a study of components and useful -- an IFRS study in accordance with the requirement that I just read out, in accordance with all of the requirements of IFRS.

So in short, as stated in the Board's letter, distributors are not now, under IFRS, to depend on rate rulings from the regulator for the purposes of defining service life; they are to proceed in accordance with the IFRS standards, which is precisely what Hydro Ottawa has done.

Now, there was, also on modified IFRS, before I come to the deferral account, there was also a discussion of capitalization policy at the hearing.  I have to say, in all honesty, at this point it's not clear to me and it's not clear to Hydro Ottawa what particular outstanding issue, if any, there is with Hydro Ottawa's capitalization policy under modified IFRS.

There certainly were some questions about consistency amongst LDCs and gathering information to ensure -- or to develop some concept of consistency.  Beyond that, Madam Chair, I think I and Hydro Ottawa really have to wait to hear what intervenors have to say on capitalization policy, to understand if there are some outstanding issues there that need to be addressed, other than, again, providing information for the purposes of developing some consistency.

So in summary on the overall modified IFRS issue -- this would be the entirety of Issue 11.1 -- Hydro Ottawa submits that with the adjustments made as a result of the settlement that the Board approved and the Board's cost of capital updates that are referred to in the approved settlement, the 2012 revenue requirement under modified IFRS has been appropriately determined and is, indeed, just and reasonable.

This, then, brings me to Issue 11.2, or at least the one aspect of it that remains outstanding, and that is the proposed deferral account for gains and losses.

Exhibit J1, tab 1, schedule 1, explains that IFRS requires recognition of gains or losses on the disposal of property, plant and equipment immediately into income, which is different from the previous practice, where a deferral could be achieved in accumulated depreciation for assets in a pool, for pooled assets.  This is something new under IFRS.

Hydro Ottawa's evidence, same reference, is it does not have a base of information upon which it can produce a forecast of future gains and losses from these assets that are in a pool, that are pooled assets.

Beyond that, even using historical data to try to come up with some sort of trend analysis to create a forecast was not possible for Hydro Ottawa because it did not have sufficient historical data do that.  Again, this is explained in Exhibit J1, tab 1, schedule 1.  The particular page reference is page 12.

As far as Hydro Ottawa is aware, at this point, there has been no dispute in this case that Hydro Ottawa is unable to come up with an appropriate forecast.

The question then becomes:  What is the appropriate treatment where there is an inability to create a forecast?

In my submission, it is not just and reasonable that an inability to forecast amounts like this should result in them just being given no consideration at all for rate regulation purposes.  And indeed, as the Board would know far -- be far more familiar with than I am, the very purpose of having deferral accounts is to address situations where it's not possible to forecast an amount.  That's the reason Hydro Ottawa has proposed a deferral account to record these gains and losses from pool assets.

Now, reference was made during cross-examination to the addendum to the Board's IFRS report.  And in that addendum the Board stated its conclusion that it would not have a generic account to address this issue.  The Board also in that addendum stated an expectation that in its first cost of service application after the transition to IFRS, the utility will provide a forecast of gains and losses as part of its application.  It was in this context -- that being the context of a utility providing a forecast -- that the addendum goes on to discuss the potential for a variance account.  It doesn't say a utility would certainly get a variance account, but it discusses potential for a variance account if there's a concern about volatility.

However, that's in the context where there is a forecast.  There is no forecast in this case.  Hydro Ottawa is unable to create a forecast, and again, at least at this point, I'm not aware of any serious dispute about Hydro Ottawa's inability to come up with a reliable forecast.

This, then, creates a different situation than a variance account.  This creates a situation of a deferral account, which is exactly what Hydro Ottawa has requested.

Mr. Simpson summarized the difficulties faced by Hydro Ottawa that have given rise to this request, and if I might, I would just read an excerpt from his evidence in this regard from Volume 2 of the transcript, at page 187.

He started out by saying:

"It's required some system changes for us, numerous system changes, which we're running through now for the first time, and we just don't have the experience for it.  So our request in the evidence is that within a period of two, three years, we will have a better feel for that, and could potentially build it into an allowance of some kind, which would be part of our OM&A.  But until such time, we need to track it, it needs to be audited, and it needs to be added to -- in our opinion, to a deferral account as a more appropriate methodology in the short term."

This brought out, again, some more of the challenges around the attempt to forecast and the need for a deferral account.  Not only is it a lack of information and experience; it's a need for what Mr. Simpson called numerous system changes to even be able to capture the information that could ultimately result in a forecast being done.

In my submission, for all these reasons, the only fair and reasonable way to address something like this in the absence of an ability to create a reliable forecast is the deferral account that's been proposed.

This, then, brings me to working capital allowance.

The issue that went to hearing, as the Board is aware, in relation to working capital allowance, concerns Hydro Ottawa's determination of a working capital percentage of 14.2 percent to be applied to 2012 OM&A and cost of power.  This is tied back to Issue 2.2 in the main settlement proposal.

The percentage will be applied to the cost of power, which Hydro Ottawa has committed to update under Issue 2.2 in the main settlement proposal, and the 2012 OM&A amount, which, as the Board well knows, is an unsettled issue.

Historically, prior to 2008, Hydro Ottawa used the Board-specified 15 percent for the working capital allowance.

The 15 percent rate was changed to 12.5 percent as part of a settlement agreement, but that was based on the results of a Toronto Hydro lead-lag study for its 2008 test year.  The reference for this is Exhibit B4, tab 2, schedule 1, page 1.

So Hydro Ottawa historically used the 15 percent.  In 2008, there was a change to 12.5 percent, but not based on a Hydro Ottawa lead-lag study; there had been a Toronto Hydro lead-lag study.

Now, in that context, it's important to take into account what the Board's filing requirements now say on this.  The Board's revision of its filing requirements issued just on June 22nd of this year specifically address how allowance for working capital should be determined.  If I might just read from paragraph 2.5.1.4 of the June 2011 revisions to the filing requirements, under the heading "allowance for working capital", the following appears:

"The applicant may take one of two approaches for calculation of its allowance for working capital:  1), the 15 percent allowance approach, or 2), the filing of a lead-lag study.  The only exception to the above requirement is if the applicant has been previously directed by the Board to undertake a lead-lag study on which its current working capital allowance is based.  So there is one exception recognized, only one, but otherwise an applicant has only two choices under the Board's current filing requirements."

I say that this sets some important background for a number of reasons.  First of all, this filing requirement direction from the Board, in my submission, confirms that moving from an across-the-board 15 percent working capital allowance to the provision for individual lead-lag studies by different utilities is a recognition that circumstances of individual applicants differ and should be taken into account.

Second, given that, under the mandated requirements of this document to which I've referred, the lead-lag study is the only option to the general 15 percent allowance.

So unless the merits of the study have -- I'm sorry, where the merits of the study have not been seriously challenged, it surely was not the intention of these filing requirements that the Board would give other factors weight over the results of what was the mandated approach.  Sorry, it took me a little while to formulate in my mind what I'm trying to say, but the filing requirements give only two choices.  It makes that very clear.  There's only the overall -- the general 15 percent or the lead-lag study.

So given these are the only two ways that a utility can proceed, if there is no serious challenge of this study, surely it had to have been the intention that there wouldn't be some other factors that were going to override the results of these individual studies.  Otherwise, what would be the point of directing these utilities to start doing their individual studies rather than the 15 percent?

And the third point I want to make in this regard is, it's clear from the filing requirements that if there is some sort of serious challenge to an applicant's study, the default is the 15 percent.  And in fact, that is -- if I can find those requirements again -- that is the reference in the filing requirements.  The 15 percent is referred to as the default.  That's at the bottom of page 19 of the June 22nd, 2011 revision of the filing requirements:

"2012 will be the final year for which the 15 percent allowance approach will be allowed as a default value."

So where I'm going with this is that the lead-lag study is an approach to reflect the individual circumstances of a particular utility.  To the extent that there is not an appropriate reflection of the individual circumstances of a utility, the default is the 15 percent.

Now, in this case, as the Board is aware, Hydro Ottawa elected to conduct its own lead-lag study to determine working capital requirements, was based on 2009 and 2010 historical data, adjusted for any material changes in the test year.  The data for both years proved to be very consistent.  The Board can see this at Exhibit B4, tab 2, schedule 1, table 26.

In addition, this study was reviewed by Navigant, and Navigant reached conclusions which the Board has heard about.  I just want to read a small part of what Navigant said in its letter at page 5.  The letter is Exhibit B4, tab 2, schedule 1, attachment U.  Navigant said, among other things:

"We conclude that HOL's study is consistent in terms of methodology with current practice for electricity distributors in Ontario."

So on methodology it's consistent:

"For the various reasons described above, we conclude that HOL's result, in terms of its request for working capital -- i.e., 14.2 percent of OM&A expenses, including the cost of power -- is reasonable."

So reasonable as to result:

"It represents a working capital requirement, as evidenced by the company's 2009/2010 operations, and it is based upon a study that is comparable, in terms of approach, though not necessarily its result, which by definition is HOL-specific, with those supporting other such requests that have been historically accepted by the OEB."

So out of that I think there's at least four propositions, two of which I've already mentioned.  The methodology is consistent with current practice for electricity distributors.  The results are reasonable.  The study is comparable in approach to those that have been historically accepted by the OEB.  And fourth, the results by definition are Hydro Ottawa-specific, and that, again, is confirming the utility-specific nature of the results that are achieved from one of these studies.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Cass, if you could perhaps just give me a little more clarity.  I'll ask the question this way:  What range of findings do you believe the Board has on this particular item?  Something you said earlier, I'm not sure whether you're saying it's a go or no-go sort of thing, whether or not, if it has been demonstrated through this lead-lag study, and if the study has been done appropriately, that the Board accept it.  If the Board did not accept all of the -- either the methodologies or the -- certain elements of the report, is it your proposition that the Board would turn down this study and the default would be 15 percent?

MR. CASS:  Not necessarily.  I wouldn't go that far, Mr. Quesnelle.  I just put that out as a consideration.  In other words, if a utility did not do the study at all --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes?

MR. CASS:  -- the default would be 15 percent.  If for some reason the Board felt that an adequate study had not been done, does that put that utility at a disadvantage, having tried its best to do a study opposite a utility that did not do one at all?

I just put that for the Board's consideration.  You know, of course the Board's determination of how to address this issue is within its broad discretion, and there will be various factors that the Board would be considering.  I'm just trying to, perhaps in an awkward and not very clear way, stress what I think are some of the more important factors.

I think that the individual lead-lag study, given the Board's filing requirements and how it has set up only two options, that the individual lead-lag study and its results are by far the greatest factor, and, you know, the Board might think about, well, what other utilities might have produced for their working capital allowance.

Of course, the Board -- that's a factor for the Board.  But my point is that I don't think the way that this has been structured under the filing requirements, that should be as strong a factor as the individual lead-lag study.  That's the way that this process has been set up under the Board's filing requirements.

I'm also saying that -- I certainly don't believe it's happened in this case.  But to the extent that there is a serious challenge to one of these lead-lag studies in some case, I mean, I think it's a factor for the Board to consider.  Does that disadvantage this utility that tried to do a study opposite one that didn't do a study at all and would have been at the 15 percent?  I think it's just another factor for the Board to consider.  I'm certainly not by these arguments trying to suggest that the Board's overall discretion as to how to approach this issue is restrained or restricted.

MR. QUESNELLE:  No, and that wasn't my point, and I didn't interpret it that way.  It was more just to the point, and you have expanded on -- it was the interpretation of the requirement as it's been reframed, so that's helpful.

MR. CASS:  Yes, and I'm just suggesting, the fact that that 15 percent remains as the default is a factor for the Board to think about in assessing, you know, that Hydro Ottawa has done its lead-lag study and has landed at 14.2 percent.  Well, in considering -- the Board's consideration of what Hydro Ottawa has done, I think a factor is to consider the default is still 15 percent.  It's still higher than what Hydro Ottawa ended up at.

MR. QUESNELLE:  That's helpful.  Thank you.

MR. CASS:  Just, I'll try to be fairly quick.  Just a couple of individual issues that came up in relation to working capital allowance were smart meters, the effect of smart meters, and the effect of monthly billing, which of course is not something that's on the immediate horizon for Hydro Ottawa but is something that is planned for the future.

With respect to the effect of smart meters, this was addressed by Ms. Scott in her testimony, Volume 1 of the transcript, at page 36, I believe.  I think it's probably just quickest if I read this, rather than trying to put it into my words.  So on the subject of smart meters, Ms. Scott said:

"So if we take a hypothetical that the service for a monthly customer starts on January 1st and ends on January 31st, and a meter reading is done under the current system a couple of days after January 31st, we still have to wait for the IESO pricing.  So the billing date could be February 18 because we have to wait the 10 days for the pricing, 10 business days."

And then the question was:

"And can you confirm that operational impacts arising from smart meters has not impacted on the working capital allowance?"

And the answer:

"That's correct.  Smart meters allow us to read the meters more frequently and quicker, but it does not impact on the billing, so it does not impact on the working capital allowance."

For the reason given in the earlier part of the testimony that I read out.

Now, with respect to the proposed change to monthly billing, the evidence -- Volume 1 of the transcript, page 41 -- makes clear that at this point, the new CIS is not scheduled until late CIS [sic] monthly billing will not occur until after the new CIS, whatever that might be.

Further, while monthly billing may shorten service lag, it will affect expenses, such as postage, printing and staff to deal with exceptions.  In my submission, experience is needed, once monthly billing is actually in place, which will be some time after the new CIS is in place, before any reasonable basis for recalculating working capital allowance using monthly billing can be done.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Cass, just give me the opportunity here.  I think you might have misspoke.

MR. CASS:  I'm sorry.  I'm sure I did.

MR. QUESNELLE:  You mentioned the schedule, that it's not scheduled until late -- did you mean to give a date there?

MR. CASS:  I meant to say 2013.

MR. QUESNELLE:  You said "CIS" but that's quite all right.

MR. CASS:  I apologize.  Thank you very much.

MR. QUESNELLE:  No, I just want to get it right for the record.

MR. CASS:  CIS is scheduled for late 2013.  Monthly billing will occur at some point after that.  Thank you.  I'm trying to keep too many different thoughts organized in my mind at one time.

Just one final point on working capital allowance; probably the real thrust of this point should await intervenor arguments.

However, in cross-examination, there was some questioning about adjusting particular elements of the calculation.  And an undertaking was given in this regard, Undertaking L1.2.

The undertaking response, which the Board will now have, does address the question that was requested, but it also addresses, as is my submission, that it's not appropriate to try to change one element of this somewhat complicated analysis without making corresponding adjustments.

So my submission to the Board is that in considering any points that may arise from this particular attempt to address a particular element of the calculation, it's important to bear in mind that other adjustments have to be made.  That's explained in the response to Undertaking L1.2.

Now brings me to LRAM.

Hydro Ottawa has requested an LRAM of $859,000 to re-recover it over one year.  This represents lost revenue in 2009 to 2011 for 2009 and 2010 OPA programs.

This is another situation where, at this point, Hydro Ottawa is not entirely clear as to intervenors' position with respect to the LRAM.  As in the case of one of the previous issues, the capitalization policy under modified IFRS, it's probably best that I not go too far without having a better understanding of what the issue is.

However, at least one thing did become clear during cross-examination, that I can address in argument-in-chief.

VECC, during its cross-examination, had some materials that included guidelines for natural gas utilities that also were issued in June of this year, June 30th of 2011.  VECC apparently was seeking to rely on these natural gas utility guidelines for DSM in support of the proposition that the LRAM for CDM for electricity LDCs should operate on some kind of a symmetric basis.

As Ms. Scott indicated when this was put to her, the gas DSM guidelines are different from the Board's guidelines for electricity distributor CDM, and obviously they don't apply to electricity distributors like Hydro Ottawa.

Again, to a large extent, it would be necessary to hear what intervenors are proposing, but to the extent that the proposition is that there should be a change to the CDM guidelines for electricity distributors to accord somehow with the DSM guidelines for gas distributors, if the Board were to act on this at all, in my submission, this would be something to do on a go-forward basis and to do generically.

As the Board is well aware, there are legal principles around retroactive ratemaking, and I don't need to go into those here.

There are, certainly, situations where within the legal principles on retroactivity, the Board can do things that operate retrospectively.  However, in my submission, this notion that seems to be emerging from cross-examination is quite different than just ratemaking with a retrospective effect.

The notion seems to be that because we have this gas DSM document that came out on June 30th, that this should retrospectively change the rules of the game, so to speak, for electricity -- for LRAMs for electricity distributors.

In my submission, it's certainly not something that the Board should be considering, when the suggestion is made that rules can be changed with a retrospective effect.  Regulated entities base their actions on the rules and guidelines in place at any particular point in time, and the entire regulatory construct would be undermined if those rules could be later changed to apply to conduct that took place under the original version of the rules.

If I may, I might just use intervenor costs as an analogy.  Suppose, under this analogy that I put forward, the Board wanted to consider whether intervenor costing should be symmetric, that there maybe would be circumstances where costs would go both ways.

Well, regardless of the merits of that issue, in my submission, it would be unthinkable that the Board would consider that issue to work retrospectively, that if we decide intervenor costs should be symmetric, that we'll look back on past cases where the rules were different and apply that.

This is the proposition I'm putting forward with respect to LRAM.  The rules were what they were at the time.  To the extent that on a going-forward basis and on a generic basis, the Board might see some reason to reconsider the rules, it most certainly can't be the case, in my submission, that that would work in a retrospective way to change the rules that applied in the past.

The other point I just want to make before I leave the LRAM issue again -- I think it's important to await what intervenors are going to say on this, but as the Board is well aware, the amount put forward by Hydro Ottawa for its LRAM claim of $859,000 is not, in fact, based on the updated numbers from the OPA.

As discussed at Volume 1 of the transcript, page 89, the LRAM amount would, in fact, be higher, based on the OPA's updated numbers.

The higher amount was provided in the answer to Undertaking L1.6, and at Volume 2 of the transcript, page 4, Hydro Ottawa confirmed that it's not planning to come forward at a later time and then ask for an adjustment in respect of the higher amount that could potentially be claimed.

For that reason, it's my submission that the LRAM claim that Hydro Ottawa has put forward is indeed more than reasonable, if I could put it that way.

I'll then move to the load forecast issue.  The issue raised by intervenors, and this refers back to Issue 3.1 in the main settlement document, relates to Hydro Ottawa's base load forecast for system energy and class energy sales.

As indicated in the evidence, for the purposes of its rate application back in 2006, Hydro Ottawa had used an internally developed forecasting methodology.  This methodology did produce reasonably good results -- this is stated in the evidence -- but nevertheless Hydro Ottawa decided to implement a new methodology to further improve its load forecasts.

It conducted a competitive process to select the new methodology, and as a result of this process it chose an advanced statistical modelling software from Itron, as the Board has heard.  This is described in the evidence as one of the dominant software programs for electricity and gas forecasting, with over 500 users worldwide.  Some of the Canadian users are the IESO in Ontario, Manitoba Hydro, Ontario Power Generation, Enersource, and so on.  The reference for all this background I've been giving the Board is Exhibit C1, tab 1, schedule 1, page 1.

Hydro Ottawa has now been using this -- I call it new.  I guess it's not so new -- but this new forecasting methodology for five years, and the system energy forecasts that it has produced have, in fact, been very good.

The Board can see from Table 1 of Exhibit C1, tab 1, schedule 1 that for the years 2007 to 2011 variances between system energy forecasts produced by the model and weather-normal actuals have been well under 1 percent.

Now, Hydro Ottawa also develops class sale forecasts.  This is explained at the same exhibit, C1, tab 1, schedule 1, page 9.  In order to do this, it creates sales forecast models for each class that reflect the relationship between actual billed class sales and variables such as weather and economic variables.

The sales forecast is on a billing month rather than a calendar month, and the Board would appreciate this is necessary because Hydro Ottawa has bi-monthly billing for certain classes, including residential.

So for the purposes of the class sales forecast, this billed monthly data is converted to calendar month data.  This is done by calibrating the monthly sum of the class forecasts to the system forecasts, as adjusted by a loss factor.  The reference for that is Volume 1 of the transcript, page 46.

One of the undertaking responses that has been passed up today is the response to Undertaking L2.1.  This response makes clear -- well, I should indicate that in the question that gave rise to this response, Hydro Ottawa was asked about uncalibrated numbers.  The response makes clear why the calibrated numbers result in a more accurate forecast than trying to use uncalibrated numbers.

So in summary, with respect to Hydro Ottawa's load forecast, it can be seen again from Exhibit C1, tab 1, schedule 1, table 3 that Hydro Ottawa's weather-normalized system energy growth has not exceeded 1 percent for approximately ten years, and for 2011 and 2012 the model is forecasting weather-normalized system energy growth of 0.85 percent and 0.91 percent respectively for those two years, 2011 and 2012.

And I'm approaching the end, because I'm now coming to the smart meter disposition rider.  The issue that has come up with respect to the smart meter disposition rider has to do with the manner of recovery of this rider.  This can be tied back to ^issue 6.1 in the main settlement proposal.

Hydro Ottawa's proposal is that the rider be recovered based on a standard monthly fixed charge per metered customer.  This comes to 41 cents, and it would be for a period of one year.  That's discussed at Volume 1 of the transcript, pages 46 and 47.

The issue that has come up, and I wouldn't think that it's supported by all intervenors, but at least certain intervenors, is whether the manner of recovery should be class-specific riders.

In its consideration of how to go about this recovery, Hydro Ottawa took into account comments by the Board in a previous decision.  This decision was in a PowerStream case, EB-2010-0209.

I won't go through the decision in detail.  It's discussed in the evidence in this case in the response to Undertaking LT1.14 from the technical conference.  So that's a technical conference undertaking.

There is some detailed discussion of the PowerStream decision in that undertaking response.  Among the points that are made there is that in the PowerStream case the Board said that it considered that a class-specific calculation of the residual amounts for disposition of smart meter costs for each rate class was unwarranted because there was insufficient benefit, given the additional complexity.

The Board also noted in that PowerStream decision that, depending on a distributor's circumstances, a more detailed approach could result in rate volatility for some customers.

The Board said that it would entertain proposals supported by analysis for smart meter disposition riders based on principles of cost causality, where the distributor has the necessary historical and forecasted data.

Now, in that same undertaking response -- that's the response to technical conference Undertaking LT1.14 -- Hydro Ottawa's evidence was that it does not have the proper data to perform a calculation based on a cost allocation approach.

Hydro Ottawa's evidence and position set out in that undertaking response is that the numbers that it developed in order to answer the undertaking, because a request was made to do some numbers, should not be used for the purpose contended for by some intervenors.  In other words, Hydro Ottawa provided the numbers because it was requested to do so, but it should not be taken in any way that it's Hydro Ottawa's position that those numbers ought to be used.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Cass, is that the Undertaking L1.5?

MR. CASS:  I'm referring to technical conference LT1.14.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Fine.  There was an undertaking response L.15 that you filed today.

MS. SCOTT:  And it updates the numbers.  It doesn't repeat...  It updates the numbers.  It does not repeat the --


MR. CASS:  Position.

MS. SCOTT:^  -- the position that Mr. Cass is referring to, but it does update the numbers in terms of the class-specific...

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. CASS:  So that's a very good clarification, Madam Chair.  L1.5 should well be read together with technical conference undertaking response LT1.14.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. CASS:  So in summary on this point, Hydro Ottawa has really -- or submits that there is no evidence in this proceeding to support the position that the concerns expressed by the Board in the PowerStream decision with respect to the use of a cost allocation approach are not equivalent concerns in respect of Hydro Ottawa's situation.

So in conclusion, Madam Chair, you will be pleased to hear I'm at the end.  For all of the reasons that I've run through in these submissions, Hydro Ottawa respectfully requests that the Board approve the proposed 2012 revenue requirement and rates, and grant the relief requested in Hydro Ottawa's application, subject, of course, to the adjustments that flow out of the Board-approved settlement proposal.

If I might just take a minute to see whether there is anything that I need to add, but otherwise I'm finished, unless the Board has questions.

[Mr. Cass confers]

I have to clarify or correct one more thing, Madam Chair.  I apologize.  The undertaking response from the hearing that needs to be read together -- the numbers in which need to be read together with technical conference Undertaking Response LT1.14 is actually L1.4.  The numbers in L1.4 should be read together with the position set out in LT1.14.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.  I just have one other question related to the undertaking responses that were filed today.  Well, actually, I have two questions.

One, the undertaking response that has not been filed, is that the one about the survivor curves?

MR. CASS:  Yes, it is.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  The question that I have about Undertaking 2.5 and the Ernst & Young report that's here, as I understood the undertaking, it was to provide an audit opinion from Ernst & Young on the report, which was the service lives.  And that, obviously, is an input into figuring out the opening balances.

But as I understand what you've filed with us, it's an audit of the opening statement.  It's not an audit of the report; is that correct?

MR. CASS:  That is my understanding, Madam Chair. 

Pardon me, I'm sorry.  Just need a minute.  For some reason, I don't actually have the attachment myself.

I think the reason that it was referred to by Mr. Simpson in the context to which he did refer it to can be seen at page 15 of the document.

The last sentence on page 15, if the Panel has been able to find that, on the right-hand side is:

"Based on the procedures performed, the components and the useful lives as determined by management appear to be reasonable."

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Are there any other matters?  No?  Then thank you very much, Mr. Cass.

I'll just repeat the schedule.  Staff submissions due on the 18th, intervenors on the 22nd, and what I was remiss yesterday in discussing again is the reply evidence on or before the 29th of November.  Okay?

Thank you.  We're adjourned.

--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 12:33 p.m. 
1

